### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2007-KA-00136

# FILED



CHARLIE SAWYER

SEP 07 2007

APPELLANT

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS VERSUS

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

### APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE 1<sup>ST</sup> JUDICIAL DISTRICT OF HINDS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

**BRIEF ON THE MERITS BY APPELLANT** 

**Appellant Requests Oral Argument**

### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. The trial court abused its discretion when it denied his Motion to sever counts against him or alternatively, to stipulate to two prior convictions for armed robbery, as introduction of evidence of two prior convictions for armed robbery were unduly prejudicial, and
- II. The trial court abused its discretion in accepting as "race neutral" the excuses given by the prosecution in exercise of peremptory challenges, thus denying to Mr. Sawyer equal protection of law in the selection of jurors passing judgment upon him, as the prosecution engaged in purposeful discrimination by use of peremptory challenges.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS BELOW

Charlie Sawyer Jr. was arrested on the night of June 11, 2005 in connection with the robbery June 3, 2005 of Alfred Jacobs at Ellis Seafood Restaurant, 211 West Woodrow Wilson in Jackson. CP 3; T. 293. Mr. Sawyer was thereafter indicted by a grand jury of the 1<sup>st</sup> Judicial District, Hinds County, Mississippi, for armed robbery, in violation of MISS. CODE ANN. § 97-3-79 (1972) and for possession of a firearm as a convicted felon, in violation of MISS. CODE ANN. § 97-37-5 (1972), all subject to enhanced penalties under MISS. CODE ANN. § 99-19-83 (1973). CP 3. On September 28, 2006, a jury was impaneled to hear the charges and on September 29, rendered a verdict of guilty on both counts. CP 3; 48-49; RE 10-11. Thereafter, Mr. Sawyer was sentenced to life imprisonment without possibility for parole in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections, pursuant to MISS. CODE ANN. § 99-19-83 (1972). CP 50-54; RE 12-13. Upon timely prosecution of all post-trial motions, all of which were denied, Mr. Sawyer appeals his conviction to this Court. CP 57; 60; RE 14.

### **B.** STATEMENT OF FACTS

On the night of June 3, 2005, Alfred Jacobs pulled up to the drive-through menu board to place an order at Ellis Seafood Restaurant, 211 West Woodrow Wilson in Jackson, Mississippi. T. 256. As so many of us do, Jacobs initially fumbled about, making sure he had his wallet.T. 257. When he looked up toward the menu board, he found a black male standing at his driver's side window aiming a gun at his head. T.257. Jacobs testified he then saw a second black male materialize at the passenger side, reaching for his shirt front pocket. T.259. Meanwhile, the assailant at the driver's side tried to get at Jacob's back pocket, demanding his wallet, which Jacobs initially refused to do, swatting away or "tussling" with the hands coming through his car windows. T.259. Jacobs testified he surrendered both his wallet and cellular telephone after the

robber on the driver's side hit Jacobs in the mouth with the butt of the pistol he carried. T.261. The two then walked away heading to the back of the restaurant, shooting once in the air and ordering Jacobs to go away and not look back. T.263. Jacobs drove out and around again to the order pick-up window to report the robbery. T.264. Jacobs testified that restaurant employees told him that the police had already been summoned after hearing the "commotion" over the ordering microphone by the menu board. T.263. At the time of the incident and even a week later on June 10, Jacobs was unable to give any description other than race, gender and a possible age range of 20-30 years. T. 243-244; 277; 278. Jacobs repeatedly testified as to the speed with which the incident occurred and confusion as to what had actually happened as the reason for his inability to give police additional details regarding his assailants. T.276-277. Under direct examination regarding his inability to give any physical characteristic descriptions, Jacobs admitted, "I was out of it." T. 265.

On the night of June 11, 2005, police were again summoned to Ellis Seafood Restaurant because employees allegedly noticed a man with a gun hiding in the bushes near the menu order board. T. 234; 235. Several officers drove to a nearby gas station and formed a loose human perimeter in an effort to hem in the suspect. T. 221; 286; 291; 297.

Officer Tuesday Jones approached the bushes and noticed a man she identified as Mr. Sawyer holding a gun "stooped" in the bushes. T.251. Officer Jones said she then ordered Mr. Sawyer to drop his weapon and put his hands up; Jones testified he dropped the gun on the ground and raised his hands only to run when officers attempted to further detain him. T. 236-237; 246; 251. After a foot chase in the vicinity, Officer Joe Nick Brown located Mr. Sawyer squatted down next to a house, breathing heavily. T.239; 287; 298. Brown took Mr. Sawyer into custody with no further trouble. T. 293.

Upon his arrest, Brad Davis, the detective assigned to investigate the robbery of Jacobs, assembled a photographic line-up that included a picture of Mr. Sawyer, as well as five other individuals. T.305. Exh. 5. Davis testified he did so due to the similarity of the June 3 incident. T. 304. Davis telephoned Jacobs that night to come and review the line-up, which Jacobs readily agreed to do. T. 271; 309. Both Jacobs and Davis testified as to Jacobs' identification of Mr. Sawyer as one of his assailants on the night of June 3, despite his near complete inability in the intervening week to provide investigating officers any identifying characteristics beyond race, gender and age. T. 244; 262; 276-277; 314. Mr. Sawyer was thirty-six years old at the time of trial. T. 314.

Two days before trial, Jacobs acknowledged that police showed him a Lorcin .380 handgun recovered at the scene. T. 274; 280; 298. Although Jacobs described the gun in his initial statements to police as "silver" the recovered weapon was essentially black and gray. T. 298; Exh. 1. Although Jacobs testified confidently that the weapon recovered at the scene could "very well be" the weapon used on him, Jacobs also acknowledged difficulty in describing details of the occurrence, including the gun he said his assailant used. T. 258; 275.

Police did not test the recovered Lorcin for possible fingerprint or blood and tissue matches, nor was the car of Mr. Jacobs processed for possible fingerprint matches with Mr. Sawyer or anyone else. T. 244; 290; 300.

No follow-up investigation or arrests was completed regarding the second assailant who allegedly stole from his front pocket the cellular phone of Mr. Jacobs. T. 317.

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court abused its discretion by refusing to permit Mr. Sawyer to either sever trial of the counts against him or, alternatively, to permit him to offer a court-sanctioned stipulation that would have negated the need for mention to the jury that Mr. Sawyer had twice previously been convicted of armed robbery, a crime for which he was then standing trial. Although a limiting instruction was given, Mr. Sawyer contends it was insufficient to remove the risk of a tainted jury verdict.

Furthermore, the trial court erred when it accepted with little or no questioning the reasons even the court admitted were "borderline" and advanced by the prosecution in striking black jurors Corvettia Gray, Estell Kelly, Reshemia Ratcliff, Maxine Johnston and Stacy Wilson. T. 182; 185; 192; 195-196; 197. RE 16-21. The prosecution used nine of eleven strikes against African-Americans. Mr. Sawyer contends that the ostensibly "race-neutral reasons" given by the prosecutor and accepted by the trial court were no more than a pre-text to rid the jury pool of African-Americans, in violation of *Batson v. Kentucky*, 476 U.S. 79 (1986).

#### ARGUMENT

I. The trial court abused its discretion when it denied his Motion to sever counts against him or alternatively, to stipulate to two prior convictions for armed robbery, as introduction of evidence of two prior convictions for armed robbery were unduly prejudicial, and

At common law, the Crown was prohibited from mentioning evidence that the accused had committed a similar crime in the past, or indeed any crimes committed in the past. Those primal legal tribunals sought to ensure an accused was convicted of the charge for which he or she then stood trial, not an act in the past. *Old Chief v. United States*, 519 U.S. 172, 181 (1997) *citing Greer v. United States*, 245 U.S. 559, (1918). This policy colors our criminal justice system and is no where more evident than in the MISSISSIPPI RULES OF EVIDENCE 401; 402; 403 and 404. These rules define relevant evidence, provide for its admission and exclusion and along the way, give benchmarks for the evaluation of evidence.

"Relevant evidence' means evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probably or less probable than it would be without the evidence." MISS.R.EVID. 401. While MISS.R.EVID. 402 favors admissibility of all relevant evidence, the rule itself acknowledges the boundaries: the United States Constitution, the Mississippi Constitution and elsewhere in the evidentiary rules. MISS.R.EVID. 403 provides for the exclusion of relevant evidence "if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, …"

In case at bar, the trial court abused its discretion in refusing the motion of Mr. Sawyer to sever trial of the counts against him or, alternatively, to grant a stipulation that he was a convicted felon for the purposes of establishing the necessary element of the crime, felon in possession of a firearm, in violation of MISS. CODE ANN. § 97-37-5 (1972). T. 24; RE 15. In so doing, the trial court failed to properly consider the danger of such information before the jury

and the probability that such evidence might taint the verdict, thus depriving Mr. Sawyer to his fundamental right to a fair and impartial trial.

Mr. Sawyer was arrested June 11, 2005 at Ellis Seafood Restaurant for committing an armed robbery June 3, 2005 at Ellis Seafood Restaurant, ostensibly with a companion who was never found. Mr. Sawyer was charged with the June 3, 2005 crime because he was found crouched in the bushes near the restaurant drive-through area with a gun in his hand. T.234-235. Alfred Jacobs, the victim, was unable to give investigating officers virtually any physical characteristics beyond race (black) gender (male) and possible age (twenty to thirty). T.243-244; 278. Mr. Jacobs identified Mr. Sawyer as one of his June 3 assailants from a photographic line-up prepared after Mr. Sawyer was arrested June 11, 2005. T.271-272. There are no fingerprints or other physical evidence to link him to the crime against Mr. Jacobs, merely the similarity of Mr. Sawyer's actions the night of June 11, as compared to June 3, 2005 and the eyewitness identification of Mr. Jacobs.

Mr. Sawyer was duly charged with armed robbery and due to his two previous convictions for armed robbery, he was also charged as being a convicted felon in possession of a fire-arm with eligibility for enhanced penalties under MISS. CODE ANN. § 99-19-83 (1972). CP 3.

While Mr. Sawyer concedes the prosecutor is correct, she has a certain amount of freedom in proving her case, she is wrong that her freedom is complete to prove her case as she wishes. T.18. MISS.R.EVID. 402 provides some of the initial barriers to the prosecutor's assertions – the United States Constitution, the Mississippi Constitution and the rules themselves. The case of *Old Chief*, from the district of Montana, dealt with the refusal of a prosecutor to agree to a stipulation that Johnny Old Chief, charged with assault resulting in serious bodily injury, had previously been convicted of the same crime. It was his right, the *Old Chief* prosecutor insisted, to prove his case, his way. The *Old Chief* prosecutor insisted on presenting to

jurors the full bill of particulars involving the past sins of Johnny Lynn Old Chief. *Id.*, 177. (Incredibly, the prosecutor in the instant case claimed that *Old Chief* was a Florida case involving application of Florida law and therefore, not controlling under Mississippi law. T. 18).

The United States Supreme Court disagreed and reversed, due to the inherent and unacceptable danger that Mr. Old Chief was convicted not for the current charge but for past acts. The basis was the balancing test of FEDERAL RULE OF EVIDENCE 403, which Miss.R.Evid. 403 mirrors. *Old Chief*, at 184.

This is exactly the situation in the case at bar. Here, an agreed stipulation would have removed the risk of a tainted verdict, yet provided the proof necessary to sustain the prosecutor's burden on the charge of convicted felon possessing a firearm. Even though a limiting instruction was given, Mr. Sawyer contends it was woefully insufficient under the facts of this case. T. 325. For this reason, the cause should be reversed and remanded for re-trial in a manner consistent with the Mississippi Rules of Evidence and sound constitutional practice.

> II. The trial court abused its discretion in accepting as "race neutral" the excuses given by the prosecution in exercise of peremptory challenges, thus denying to Mr. Sawyer equal protection of law in the selection of jurors passing judgment upon him, as the prosecution engaged in purposeful discrimination by use of peremptory challenges.

Mr. Sawyer contends he was deprived of his right to equal protection and due process of law by the trial court's acceptance of allegedly "race neutral" reasons for using nine of eleven peremptory challenges against African-Americans, under the authority of *Batson v. Kentucky*, 476 So.2d U.S. 79, 106 S.Ct. 1712 (1986).

The prosecutor here is familiar to this Court, as she admitted to striking a male juror due to his gender, acknowledging she did not know if striking a juror on the basis of gender was discriminatory. *McGee v. State*, 953 So.2d 211 (Miss. 2007).

Under *Batson*, the objecting party challenging peremptory strikes must show: (a) that he or she is a member of a cognizable racial group; (b) that the prosecutor has exercised peremptory challenges to remove from the venire members of the defendant's race; and (c) that these facts and any other relevant circumstances raise an inference that the prosecutor used that practice to exclude the veniremen from the petit jury on account of their race. *Batson*, 476 So.2d U.S. at 96, 106 S.Ct. at 1716. *Flowers v. State*, 947 So.2d 910, 917 (Miss. 2007). "At the final stage of the *Batson* analysis, the trial court determines if the reasons given by the prosecution were pretexts for intentional discrimination." *Berry v. State*, 802 So.2d 1033, 1038 (Miss. 2001). In evaluating whether the prosecutors proffered reasons are race-neutral or merely pretexts for striking the veniremen, five factors are to be considered:

- (1) Disparate treatment, that is, the presence of unchallenged jurors of the opposite race who share the characteristic given as the basis for the challenge;
- (2) The failure to voir dire as to the cited characteristic;
- (3) The characteristic cited is unrelated to the facts of the case;
- (4) The record lacks support for the stated reason and
- (5) Group-based traits. *Flowers*, at 917, citing *Manning v. State*, 765 So.2d 516, 519 (Miss. 2000)

The exclusion of even one prospective juror on the basis of discriminatory peremptory strikes is sufficient to taint the verdict and require reversal. *McGee*, at 215.

Mr. Sawyer submits that he met the initial three-part test: Mr. Sawyer is black; the prosecutor exercised nine of eleven challenges against African-American veniremen, and these facts raised a definite inference that the prosecutor was attempting to systematically exclude these prospective jurors from the panel because of their race. T. 164. The trial panel ultimately

consisted of seven whites and five African-Americans, with one African-American alternate and one white alternate. T. 254.

Specifically, Mr. Sawyer challenges the trial court's acceptance of the employment status of Maxine Johnson, Stacy Wilson, and Corvettia Gray, based solely on responses to the jury questionnaire and without engaging in voir dire on those issues with these prospective jurors. T. 182; 185; 197. RE 16-17; 21. In raising a *Batson* challenge against Mr. Sawyer for exercising peremptory strikes against prospective white jurors, however, this same prosecutor argued against acceptance of the race-neutral reason offered by counsel for Mr. Sawyer on the basis that defense counsel did not further voir dire the veniremen. T. 152; 161.

The prosecutor stated that Ms. Johnson listed "unemployed" on her jury questionnaire, but never questioned her about it, and advanced Ms. Johnson's written response as the reason for exercising the peremptory strike. T. 181. "I am not going to put someone on my jury that's not working. She seems able-bodied. She's 54. She's not too old to be working or not working." T. 181. Counsel for Mr. Sawyer raised the failure of the prosecutor to inquire, and the response was "I don't have to ask. That's on her jury questionnaire." T. 181. Mr. Sawyer submits the prosecutor does indeed need to ask.

Prospective juror Stacy Wilson wrote "not applicable" on her questionnaire regarding employment, again with no further inquiry by the prosecutor, although she engaged in questioning Ms. Wilson during voir dire. T. 76; 92. Even though the questions were on other topics, the prosecutor asked each prospective juror identified as "retired" their prior occupation. (T. 63-64, Mary Louise Jones, retired school teacher; T. 69, 70, Estell Kelly, retired from the Mississippi Department of Human Services). Counsel for Mr. Sawyer rebutted on the prosecutor's failure to probe, but the trial court accepted the reasoning given by the prosecutor. T. 185; RE 17.