# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CHARLIE SAWYER a/k/a CHARLIE SAWYER, JR.

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

FILED

NO. 2007-KA-0136

NOV 0 2 2007

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

# BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: BILLY L. GORE

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

#

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

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

I. The trial judge, at the defendant's request, read to the jury at the proper time a limiting instruction targeting the testimony identifying the defendant's prior felony convictions. (R. 325) This admonishment was sufficient to neutralize, if not cure completely, any prejudice to Sawyer because it is presumed the jury follows the instructions given by the trial judge.

II. The trial judge found as a fact and concluded as a matter of law the prosecutor gave valid and viable race-neutral reasons for striking peremptorily five (5) black female members of the venire. This ruling by the trial judge was neither clearly erroneous nor manifestly wrong and is entitled to great deference by a reviewing Court.

No abuse of judicial discretion has been demonstrated here.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I.

THE GRANTING OF A LIMITING OR CAUTIONARY INSTRUCTION WAS SUFFICIENT TO PREVENT ANY PREJUDICE TO SAWYER.

IT IS GENERALLY PRESUMED THAT JURORS WILL OBEY AND APPLY THE INSTRUCTIONS OF THE TRIAL COURT.

Sawyer contends the trial court abused its judicial discretion in denying his motion to sever trial of the two counts levied against him or, "... alternatively, to grant a stipulation that he was a convicted felon for the purposes of establishing the necessary element of the crime of felon in possession of a firearm. (Brief on the Merits by Appellant at 6)

An essential ingredient of the offense of firearm possession by a convicted felon is proof beyond a reasonable doubt the defendant was a prior convicted felon. The fact of Sawyer's prior convictions charged in Count II were certainly admissible for this purpose.

We are aware of appellant's concern that a jury might be inclined to reason that Sawyer must be guilty "here and now" of the armed robbery charged in Count I because he had been twice previously convicted "then and there" of the armed robberies charged in Count II.

This danger was alleviated, if not, eradicated completely by a limiting or cautionary instruction which was read to the jury at Sawyer's request after Zach Wallace, Deputy Circuit Clerk for Hinds County (R. 320), testified about Sawyer's prior felony convictions. (R. 324-25)

The instruction read by Judge Yerger is quoted as follows:

BY THE COURT: Members of the jury, the Court is going to give you what is known as a limiting instruction at this time.

"You have heard testimony that the defendant Charlie Sawyer, Jr. has been convicted of one or more felonies. You may only use this testimony to determine whether or not Mr. Sawyer is a convicted felon for purposes of count two of the indictment, possession of a firearm by a convicted felon.

The court instructs you that this testimony must not be used as evidence of guilt as to count one of the indictment, armed robbery." (R. 124-25; C.P. at 26)

We have said it before, and it bears repeating, that "[i]t is generally presumed that jurors will obey and apply the instructions of the [trial] court." **Branch v. State**, 882 So.2d 36, 76 (Miss. 2004).

This court has held on many occasions that when a trial court instructs the jury, it is presumed the jurors follow his direction. Crenshaw v. State, 520 So.2d 131 (Miss. 1988); McFee v. State, 511 So.2d 130 (Miss. 1987); Johnson v. State, 475 So.2d 1136 (Miss. 1985).

Stated differently, "[a]ppellate courts assume that juries follow the instructions." Clemons v. State, 535 So.2d 1354, 1361 (Miss. 1988). "Our law presumes the jury does as it is told." Williams v. State, 512 So.2d 666, 671 (Miss. 1987). "To presume otherwise would be to render the jury system inoperable." Johnson v. State, supra, 475 So.2d at 1142.

"The jury is presumed to have followed the admonition of the trial judge to disregard [a] remark." Wheeler v. State, 826 So.2d 731, 741 (Miss. 2002). In like manner, the jury is presumed to have followed the court's admonition concerning the limited effect of prior convictions.

Finally, we invite the attention of the Court to Ferguson v. State, 856 So.2d 334 (Ct.App.Miss. 2003), which we feel is dispositive of this issue. In Ferguson the Court of Appeals held that the trial court did not commit reversible error when it failed to issue a limiting jury instruction, *sua sponte*, regarding the defendant's prior felony convictions. "[W]hile giving a limiting instruction *sua sponte* may be the 'better practice,' when a request by defense counsel has not been made, failure to give a limiting instruction, *sua sponte*, is not always reversible error." *Id.*, 856 So.2d at 339.

In the case at bar, Sawyer requested and received a limiting and curative instruction thus at least minimizing or neutralizing, if not curing, any risk the jury would infer guilt on the charges from the fact of previous convictions on similar charges.

Judge Yerger, who was in the best position to determine any prejudicial effect of the prior convictions, did not abuse his judicial discretion in overruling the defendant's motion for severance or in denying Sawyer's request the State be compelled to accept the defendant's stipulation.

Given the strength of the prosecution's case against Sawyer - eyewitness identification by the victim who observed the defendant practically eyeball to eyeball - it is difficult to imagine how he could have been prejudiced one whit by the introduction of his prior felony convictions.

No abuse of judicial discretion has been demonstrated here.

THE TRIAL JUDGE FOUND AS A FACT AND CONCLUDED AS A MATTER OF LAW THE PROSECUTOR GAVE VIABLE RACE-NEUTRAL REASONS FOR STRIKING PEREMPTORILY FIVE (5) BLACK FEMALES FROM THE VENIRE. HIS FACT-FINDING WAS NEITHER CLEARLY ERRONEOUS NOR MANIFESTLY WRONG. ONCE AGAIN, NO ABUSE OF JUDICIAL DISCRETION HAS BEEN DEMONSTRATED.

First, some facts.

The defendant is a member of the black race.

The racial composition of the jury selected to try this case was seven (7) white jurors and five (5) black jurors. One alternate juror was white while the other was black. (R. 255)

According to Judge Yerger, who placed in the record the racial composition of the jury, "
[t]here are seven women of whom four are black, three white, five men, four white, one black, a total of seven white and five blacks. The first alternate is a black female. The second alternate is a white male." (R.255)

If this is not a jury representative of a fair cross-section of the community in which the crime took place, we don't know what is.

Sawyer, however, argues on appeal the trial judge committed reversible error when he accepted the State's race-neutral reasons for excluding five (5) black females from the jury panel, namely: Corvettia Gray (R. 168-69, 197), Maxine Johnson (R. 181-82), Stacy Wilson (R. 183-85), Reshemia Ratliff (R. 186-92) and Estell Kelly. (R. 192-94) According to Sawyer, "i]t was an error of fundamental proportions to accept the pretextual reasons offered by the prosecution in exercising her peremptory challenges in a racially discriminatory manner to strike African-Americans from the

jury." (Brief on the Merits by Appellant at 12)

Put another way, Sawyer contends the State of Mississippi was guilty of purposeful discrimination when it used nine (9) of eleven (11) peremptory challenges to strike members of the defendant's race and thereafter proffered "pretextual reasons" for their exclusion.

Following Sawyer's *Batson* objection, Judge Yerger ruled that Sawyer had made out a *prima* facie case of purposeful discrimination requiring the State to give race-neutral reasons for its strikes.

We quote:

BY THE COURT: \* \* \* All right. Now a challenge has been made, *Batson* challenge based on race has been made by the defense to the State's challenges, and, statistically, at least it appears to be a *prima facie* case to establish the *Batson*, so we'll have to proceed through the State's [challenges] to see if there were racial and/or gender reason sufficient shown. (R. 168)

Gender discrimination was not an issue at trial and is not an issue on appeal. (R. 171) Sawyer, on the other hand, suggests the state's explanations for using five (5) of nine (9) challenges to strike black jurors did not meet the race-neutral requirements found in **Taylor v. State**, 733 So.2d 251, 258 (Miss. 1999); **Collins v. State**, 691 So.2d 918, 926 (Miss. 1997) and **Griffin v. State**, 607 So.2d 1197, 1203 (Miss. 1992).

To the surprise of no one, we simply disagree.

Applicable here is the following similar **Batson** scenario found in **Harris v. State**, 901 So.2d 1277, 1281-82 (Ct.App.Miss. 2004), reh denied, cert denied, where we find this language:

The state exercised five out of six peremptory strikes to exclude African American jurors, after which Harris raised a *Batson* objection. The circuit court ruled that a *prima facie* case of discrimination had been established, and directed the state to provide race-neutral reasons for the peremptory strikes. The reasons offered by the State were (1) Juror 14 had never been gainfully employed and was not a student, and was believed to have concealed her knowledge of the defendant, (2) Juror 17 had grown up with the defendant, had

a family member involved in a crime, and was believed to be mentally slow, (3) juror 30 was unemployed and believed to be an alcoholic, and (4) Juror 24 responded to no questions. The circuit court accepted the State's reasons as race neutral. Upon appeal, Harris does not contend the circuit court erred in any procedural way, but contends that the race neutral reasons accepted by the court were "speculative or illusory."

The supreme court has stated a number of reasons a challenge may be seen as race-neutral.

"Included among those reasons: age, demeanor, marital status, single with children, prosecutor distrusted juror, educational background, employment history, criminal record, young and single, friend charged with crime, unemployed with no roots in community, posture and demeanor indicated juror was hostile to being in court, juror was late, short term employment."

Davis v. State, 660 So.2d 1228, 1242 (Miss. 1995).

The reasons given by the State would appear to fall within the above noted group. Findings of fact concerning whether the stated reasons are race neutral are given great deference and will not be overturned unless clearly erroneous or against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. Tanner v. State, 764 So.2d 385, 393 (¶14) (Miss. 2000) Among the facts to be considered is the service of four African Americans on this jury. Under the facts of this case, we can not say that the trial court abused its discretion.

We contend the reasons given by Rebecca Mansell, the assistant district attorney, were sufficiently race-neutral, and the trial judge made an on-the-record finding of fact and concluded as a matter of law the reasons passed muster under the **Batson** criteria. Judge Yerger's determinations and findings of fact, based largely upon credibility and the prosecutor's trustworthiness, were neither clearly erroneous nor manifestly wrong and are entitled to great deference by a reviewing court. **Caston v. State**, 823 So.2d 473 (Miss. 2002); **Thomas v. State**, 818 So.2d 335 (Miss. 2002), reh denied.

<sup>&</sup>quot;'Great deference,' has been defined in the Batson context as insulating from appellate

reversal any trial findings which are not clearly erroneous." Hatten v. State, 628 So.2d 294 (Miss. 1993).

In the case at bar, Judge Yerger, who listened carefully to arguments presented by both litigants, explained his rulings and acted well within his discretion in finding as a fact the State's reasons were not pretextual but race-neutral.

# [1] Corvettia Gray - Length of Employment.

Gray was struck because she had only been employed at the same job for five (5) months.

(R. 168-69, 197)

[BY THE PROSECUTOR:] Your Honor, it doesn't matter. My race neutral reason is length of employment. I can go up and get the book and read the case to you, but it is clear that a race neutral reason is length of employment. She put five months [on her juror questionnaire.] That's my race neutral reason that she's only been employed for five months at the same job. I like people that have been employed for long periods of time at the same job. (R. 168-69)

The case relied upon by the prosecutor is **Berry v. State**, 802 So.2d 1033, 1040 (¶24) (Miss. 2001) ["employment history or lack thereof"], citing **Manning v. State**, 735 So.2d 323, 340 (Miss. 1999); **Woodward v. State**, 726 So.2d 524, 530 (Miss. 1997); and **Foster v. State**, 639 So.2d 1263, 1279-80 (Miss. 1994).

Following the defendant's rebuttal, Judge Yerger ruled on this strike as follows:

[BY THE COURT:] \* \* \* Anyway, based on the representation of the State relating to Corvettia Gray, the Court finds that there were race neutral reasons. (R. 197)

# [2] Maxine Johnson - Employment History.

Johnson was struck because her juror questionnaire reflected she was 54 years of age and unemployed despite appearing healthy and able bodied to the prosecutor. (R. 181-82)

[BY THE PROSECUTOR:] \* \* \* Ms. Maxine Johnson is

unemployed. That would fall under the employment history. I am not going to put someone on my jury that's not working. She seems able-bodied. She's 54. She's not too old to be working or not working.

She didn't put retired, which everybody else that's retired put retired. She put unemployed. I don't want people that aren't working that can work that don't work for whatever reason. (R. 181-82)

Following the defendant's rebuttal, during which defense counsel lamented the fact the prosecutor had never asked Johnson why she was unemployed, the trial judge found that the State has provided a race neutral reason for that strike, and that strike is allowed. (R. 182-83)

# [3] Stacy Wilson - Employment History.

Wilson was struck because she was 33 years old, unmarried, and wrote "not applicable" in the space provided on the juror questionnaire requesting the juror's occupation. (R. 183-84)

[BY THE PROSECUTOR:] Your Honor, if someone puts not applicable where it says your occupation, that means it's none of our business, and I'm not going to sit around and say, oh, do you work? Oh, you're unemployed. Why don't you work? Are you just too lazy? I mean, you know, she's the one that chose to put not applicable.

\* \* \* \* \* \*

She's not married, and she doesn't work, so how does she support herself? That would be a good question for me. She's obviously not married because she put not applicable on that box, too. So how does she support herself if she's 33 years old and doesn't work and doesn't have a husband? That is not the kind of juror I want. (R. 184-85)

Following rebuttal by defense counsel, the trial judge found as a fact and concluded as a matter of law this was a sufficiently race-neutral reason. (R. 185)

# [4] Reshemia Ratcliff - Body Language - Inattentiveness.

Ratcliff was the target of a peremptory challenge because it appeared to the prosecutor she

was unhappy and inattentive to the prosecutor's questions. (R. 186-87, 190)

[BY THE PROSECUTOR:] Body language can happen in an instant. When I was talking to Mr. Anderson, she did not seem like she was happy with the fact that I kept questioning him. I don't want someone on my jury that doesn't seem happy with me.

\* \* \* \* \* \*

But that is my race-neutral reason that she did not seem like she appreciated the fact that I kept talking to Mr. Anderson. I don't know, but I don't want someone on my jury that can't pay attention or doesn't seem like she's receptive to what I'm saying, and I don't even talk for 45 minutes. (R. 191)

Following rebuttal from Sawyer's attorney, the circuit judge ruled as follows:

[BY THE COURT:] Well, it's borderline. \* \* \* [B]ut I think the body language of being disinterested, looking away maybe when you're trying to talk with them, and they look like they've not even interested in you or responding to the question, than that . . . will be a race-neutral reason acceptable at this time for this case. (R. 192)

# [5] Estelle Kelly - Body Language - Inattentiveness - Sleeping During Voir Dire.

Kelly was the target of a peremptory strike because she appeared to be asleep or, if not, at least inattentive when the prosecutor asked a question about a civil jury. (R. 193). See Berry v. State, supra, 802 So.2d 1033, 1043 (¶¶35-36) (Miss. 2001), It took her much longer to respond, and the prosecutor was concerned that Kelly was not listening to her questions. (R. 194)

Defense counsel rebutted by stating that Kelly "... may have been a little confused about what civil or criminal meant or something like that. She did take a moment to answer, but she did not at all appear to be asleep." (R. 194)

Following this rebuttal from the defendant, the prosecutor made the following additional comments:

[BY THE PROSECUTOR:] Your Honor, again, that's my race neutral reason. I thought she was asleep or had difficulty understanding my question or whatever it may be I mean even if she

has a lack of comprehension according to the defense, apparently there was a lack of comprehension, so I don't want someone on my jury that can't even comprehend my questions or what I'm saying because I'm going to be the one asking all the questions to these witnesses. (R. 194)

The trial judge thereafter made the following findings of fact:

[BY THE COURT:] All right. I'm going to go ahead and accept this based on what State's counsel has represented to the Court, but in the future I'm going to be much tougher on these situations. (R. 196)

We respectfully submit the circuit judge followed the guidelines provided by this Court to the proverbial "T." He made "clear and specific" rulings as to the State's use of its peremptory strikes of black female jurors.

We are aware that a trial judge should make a clear and reasonably specific explanation for his ruling on a **Batson** related claim. **Edwards v. State**, 823 So.2d 1223 (Ct.App.Miss. 2002). The trial judge should "... make an on-the-record, factual determination, of the merits of the reasons cited by the State for its use of peremptory challenges against potential jurors." **Hatten v. State**, *supra*, 628 So.2d 294, 298 (Miss. 1993).

He did.

Sawyer's claim, to be sure, is controlled, by **Harris v. State**, *supra*, 901 So.2d 1277, 1281 (¶14) (Ct.App.Miss. 2004), quoted earlier in our brief. The language relied upon is worth repeating here.

The supreme court has stated a number of reasons a challenge may be seen as race-neutral.

'Included among those reasons: age, demeanor, marital status, single with children, prosecutor distrusted juror, educational background, employment history, criminal record, young and single, friend charged with crime, unemployed with no roots in

community, posture and demeanor indicated juror was hostile to being in court, juror was late, short term employment.'

The reasons give by the State would appear to fall within the above noted group. Findings of fact concerning whether the stated reasons are race-neutral are given great deference.' \* \* \* \* \* \*

Same here.

It was also noted in **Harris** that under the totality approach a relevant fact to be considered was "... the service of four African Americans on the jury." 901 So.2d at 1282.

Again. Same here where five (5) African Americans served on Sawyer's jury.

We note that two of the ladies challenged by the State - Johnson and Wilson - listed their occupation as "unemployed" while a third juror - Gray - had only been employed for five (5) months. (R. 181, 183-84, 168-69)

A jurors employment history has always been a legitimate concern for prosecutors in the selection of a jury. Unemployment has been held to be a sufficiently viable race-neutral reason.

Lockett v. State, 517 So.2d 1346, 1356-57 (Miss. 1987), Appendix I. See also Bowie v. State, 816 So.2d 425 (Ct.App.Miss. 2002) [Prosecutor's use of a peremptory strike to reach a white juror who was unemployed was race-neutral.]

In addition, "unresponsiveness" of a prospective juror on a juror information card has been held to be a sufficient race-neutral reason for a peremptory strike. **Horne v. State,** 825 So.2d 627 (Miss. 2002). *See also* **Bolton v. State,** 752 So.2d 480 (Ct.App.Miss. 1999), reh denied.

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